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         1 
         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   If you get some news this afternoon, 
         3       come back and tell -- 
         4 
         5       THE WITNESS:   I'll try and call her when I get outside, if 
         6       it suits. 
         7 
         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that's a good idea. 
         9       Mr Greenfield, you are excused from further attendance on 
        10       the summons.  Thank you for coming today. 
        11 
        12       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW 
        13 
        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   We might have a five-minute break in 
        15       the interests of the reporters. 
        16 
        17       SHORT ADJOURNMENT 
        18 
        19       MR STOLJAR:   I call Ms Zanatta. 
        20 
        21       <LISA JOANNE ZANATTA, sworn:                 [3.14pm] 
        22 
        23       <EXAMINATION BY MR STOLJAR: 
        24 
        25       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   Your name is Lisa Joanne Zanatta? 
        26       A.   That's correct. 
        27 
        28       Q.   You're a resident of Victoria? 
        29       A.   Yes. 
        30 
        31       Q.   You're a Senior Adviser - Member Relationships person 
        32       at Cbus? 
        33       A.   Correct. 
        34 
        35       Q.   You previously gave evidence to this Commission on 
        36       7 July 2014? 
        37       A.   I did. 
        38 
        39       Q.   There's a transcript of the evidence you gave on that 
        40       occasion on the table in front of you, and there's also 
        41       a folder containing the documents in respect of which you 
        42       were examined on the last occasion, being the folder marked 
        43       "Zanatta MFI-1 Volume 1".  To put it back into context, if 
        44       you have a look at the transcript, if you go to page 28, 
        45       I was asking you about an email from you to Mr Walls of 
        46       18 July 2013.  I said to you at line 38: 
        47 
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         1            Q.   Did you have any conversation with 
         2            anyone prior to sending the email? 
         3            A.   Yes, I did. 
         4 
         5            Q.   Who with? 
         6            A.   That was Maria Butera.  She asked if 
         7            I could review the company arrears. 
         8 
         9            Q.   Did she tell you why she wanted that 
        10            information? 
        11            A.   She said David Atkin, the CEO, had 
        12            received a call from Mr Parker in relation 
        13            to him raising some serious concerns about 
        14            the company arrears. 
        15 
        16       The email that was under discussion - I'm just putting you 
        17       back in context, because I'm going to ask you about these 
        18       events, Ms Zanatta, so this might just bring it back to 
        19       mind. 
        20 
        21            The email of Mr Walls is in the folder Zanatta MFI-1 
        22       at tab 11, page 46 in the bottom right-hand corner.  You 
        23       said: 
        24 
        25            Anthony, please arrange an inquiry for the 
        26            above two employer accounts for the past 
        27            twelve months. 
        28 
        29       If you just keep that there, but go back to the transcript 
        30       for a minute.  You asked that even though you knew from 
        31       your email to Mr Grabski that had been sent the previous 
        32       month that the accounts were paid up to at least March. 
        33       You'll find that on page 30 of the transcript, at line 8. 
        34 
        35            Then at tab 14 of MFI-1, if you come back to that, you 
        36       get a response from Mr Walls, 22 July 2013, page 51 in the 
        37       bottom right-hand corner.  Then you write back to him and 
        38       say: 
        39 
        40            Bob, please don't pass this on at this 
        41            stage.  Thank you. 
        42 
        43       The records that Mr Walls had sent you - you can see them 
        44       beginning on page 52 and following - contained quite a deal 
        45       of information about employees of Lis-Con.  If you go 
        46       through to tab 16, you say at the bottom of the page: 
        47 
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         1            Thank you, Anthony.  This request was 
         2            private.  I would have appreciated it if 
         3            [he'd okayed it] before ccing others. 
         4 
         5       In fact, you also sent an email to Mr McWhinney asking him 
         6       not to pass it on.  We've looked at that already, I think. 
         7       Anyway, it's at tab 15.  You said: 
         8 
         9            Bob, please don't pass this on at this 
        10            stage. 
        11 
        12       That's page 112 in the bottom right-hand corner.  He writes 
        13       back, "OK." 
        14 
        15            You said you also spoke with Mr Walls about this. 
        16       This is at transcript page 37 at line 14.  You said: 
        17 
        18            I did have a conversation with Anthony 
        19            Walls and asked him why I received such 
        20            a huge amount of personal data and he said 
        21            it was simply a data grab that 
        22            Superpartners did when they run the 
        23            query ... 
        24 
        25       Do you see that?  Now, did you telephone him about that? 
        26       A.   Mr Walls? 
        27 
        28       Q.   Yes. 
        29       A.   I don't recall. 
        30 
        31       Q.   On line 13 on page 37 of the transcript you say, 
        32       "I did have a conversation with Mr Walls".  Was that 
        33       a telephone conversation? 
        34       A.   If there's no email, then it must have been 
        35       a telephone conversation. 
        36 
        37       Q.   It must have been, all right.  Then at page 39 of the 
        38       transcript, I asked you: 
        39 
        40            Q.   Who was it decided would contact 
        41            Mr Parker? 
        42            A.   I did. 
        43 
        44       Over the next page, page 40: 
        45 
        46            Q.   You rang him then, did you? 
        47            A.   I called him and verbally said to him, 
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         1            "Lis-Con is four months in arrears." 
         2 
         3       So that's, as I say, just to put you back in the context of 
         4       what we're talking about.  That's a summary of your 
         5       evidence on the last occasion.  You had a clear 
         6       recollection on that occasion of that sequence of events, 
         7       did you? 
         8       A.   Yes. 
         9 
        10       Q.   Your evidence to date isn't a complete statement as to 
        11       what happened in relation to the leaking of Lis-Con 
        12       employees' data by Cbus to CFMEU in July 2013, is it? 
        13       A.   Incomplete or complete?  Sorry, I missed that. 
        14 
        15       Q.   I'm suggesting to you it's not a complete version of 
        16       events, or do you say it is? 
        17       A.   I would say it is. 
        18 
        19       Q.   You've left out things, haven't you? 
        20       A.   Would you like to point the things out? 
        21 
        22       Q.   Have you tried to be full and complete in your 
        23       evidence about what occurred to this Commission? 
        24       A.   I assessed the arrears and reported those arrears to 
        25       Mr Parker. 
        26 
        27       Q.   Let's have a look at your diary.  This is your work 
        28       diary for 29 July. 
        29       A.   Thank you. 
        30 
        31       Q.   You're now looking at a copy of your work diary for 
        32       29 July 2013, and it looks as though you had a flight from 
        33       Melbourne to Sydney on 29 July.  You left in the morning 
        34       and came back at 2 o'clock or thereabouts; is that right? 
        35       A.   That's correct. 
        36 
        37       Q.   What were you doing in Sydney that day? 
        38       A.   I was to participate in a Cbus Property and joint 
        39       unions meeting. 
        40 
        41       Q.   A what, sorry? 
        42       A.   Cbus Property and a joint unions meeting. 
        43 
        44       Q.   What sort of a meeting is that? 
        45       A.   Well, it was an audit briefing meeting. 
        46 
        47       Q.   Who was there? 
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         1       A.   Well, ironically enough, it - when I got there, it was 
         2       cancelled without notification.  The convenor of the 
         3       meeting, Mr Danny Gardiner from Cbus Property, had failed 
         4       to notify me that the meeting date had been changed and 
         5       rescheduled for another - a couple of weeks later. 
         6 
         7       Q.   What was his name, I'm sorry? 
         8       A.   Danny Gardiner. 
         9 
        10       Q.   Where was the meeting to take place? 
        11       A.   The Cbus Property office. 
        12 
        13       Q.   Where is that? 
        14       A.   343 George Street. 
        15 
        16       Q.   In town? 
        17       A.   Correct. 
        18 
        19       Q.   When I say "in town", the CBD here in the City of 
        20       Sydney.  So what happened?  Did you go to the office in 
        21       town here? 
        22       A.   That's right.  I flew in.  I wasn't too sure of the 
        23       address, so when the cab driver said, "I've got to drop you 
        24       off in York Street somewhere", I said, "Look, could you 
        25       hold on, because I'm not sure if it was 343 or 443", so 
        26       I rang Danny and that's when we discovered that he had 
        27       failed to notify me of the meeting. 
        28 
        29       Q.   So what did you do? 
        30       A.   I jumped back in the cab and went straight back to the 
        31       airport.  I was - my telephone was totally out of charge. 
        32       No doubt you've checked my records.  My phone was as flat 
        33       as a tack.  I had work to do.  I had my laptop. 
        34 
        35       Q.   So you flew into Sydney, and, what, you got in the cab 
        36       and were coming in to York Street? 
        37       A.   Mmm-hmm, not familiar with the Cbus Property building. 
        38       I've never been there before. 
        39 
        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   George Street. 
        41       A.   Oh, sorry. 
        42 
        43       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   At one point I thought the witness said 
        44       "George", and at another point I thought she said "York", 
        45       but -- 
        46       A.   Yes, because the cabbie said, "I can't drop you off 
        47       there?", and I said - well, is that right?  I'm not 
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         1       familiar with Sydney, I'm sorry. 
         2 
         3       Q.   Just tell me the address that you were going to? 
         4       A.   343. 
         5 
         6       Q.   George? 
         7       A.   Correct. 
         8 
         9       Q.   And the cab driver was driving you into town from the 
        10       airport? 
        11       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
        12 
        13       Q.   And he said, "I'll have to drop you at York Street"; 
        14       is that right? 
        15       A.   (Witness nods). 
        16 
        17       Q.   And is that when you rang the gentleman that you 
        18       mentioned? 
        19       A.   Yes. 
        20 
        21       Q.   Had you actually arrived at George Street by this 
        22       stage? 
        23       A.   I arrived in a street where I said, "Could you hold 
        24       on.  I need to confirm the address." 
        25 
        26       Q.   But here in town; you had arrived in town? 
        27       A.   Correct. 
        28 
        29       Q.   Then you rang the gentleman that you mentioned, and he 
        30       said that the meeting had been cancelled? 
        31       A.   He said, yes - something along the lines, "Oh, God, 
        32       I'm sorry, I forgot to notify you of the cancellation of 
        33       the meeting." 
        34 
        35       Q.   You rang him on your mobile, did you? 
        36       A.   No.  I said my mobile was flat as a tack.  I asked the 
        37       cab driver to wait, and I called him from a phone - from 
        38       a phone booth. 
        39 
        40       Q.   A phone booth? 
        41       A.   Mmm.  I actually asked the cab driver if I could 
        42       borrow his mobile phone and offered him $5 to do so, but he 
        43       was not too kosher with that idea.  I think he thought 
        44       I was going to knock his phone off.  But anyway. 
        45 
        46       Q.   Where was the phone booth - in George Street, or 
        47       you're not sure? 
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         1       A.   No.  In York Street. 
         2 
         3       Q.   In York Street, the phone booth was.  Right.  So you 
         4       rang from the phone booth in York Street - what, an 
         5       old-fashioned phone booth, with 20 cents? 
         6       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
         7 
         8       MR AGIUS:   It's a long time since they've been 20 cents, 
         9       Mr Stoljar. 
        10 
        11       THE WITNESS:   Yes, I think it took a few dollars, 
        12       actually. 
        13 
        14       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   Anyway, you remember how much you had to 
        15       put in - it was a couple of dollars, was it? 
        16       A.   It was a few bucks, yes. 
        17 
        18       Q.   That was in York Street.  So he tells you, what, the 
        19       meeting is cancelled, and did you have to get another cab 
        20       or you got that cab? 
        21       A.   I got the - I said I'd asked him to wait because 
        22       I wasn't sure of the actual address of the Cbus Property 
        23       office.  I wasn't sure if it was at 343 - now I know it 
        24       is - or whether it was 443. 
        25 
        26       Q.   In any event, you rang and you got told this, and you 
        27       went straight back to the airport, did you? 
        28       A.   Yes, I did. 
        29 
        30       Q.   You have a clear recollection of all that taking 
        31       place, do you? 
        32       A.   Yes, I do. 
        33 
        34       Q.   How long were you expecting the meeting to take? 
        35       A.   Oh, about an hour. 
        36 
        37       MR STOLJAR:   I tender the page from Ms Zanatta's diary. 
        38 
        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that will be Zanatta MFI-1, 
        40       3 October 2014. 
        41 
        42       ZANATTA MFI#1, (3 OCTOBER 2014), PAGE FROM MS ZANATTA'S 
        43       DIARY FOR 29/07/2013 
        44 
        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have a question, which is:  why is it 
        46       that the diary doesn't record the appointment for the 
        47       meeting? 
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         1 
         2       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   Why is that, Ms Zanatta? 
         3       A.   Because I don't record everything electronically. 
         4       I was, at this stage, moving from a hard copy diary to an 
         5       electronic diary, not all things. 
         6 
         7       Q.   Is the true answer to that question because you've 
         8       just made up that story and you've told a lot of false 
         9       evidence on oath? 
        10       A.   No, that's not correct. 
        11 
        12       Q.   All right.  Well, let's move on.  You had 
        13       a conversation with Mr Parker - you gave this evidence last 
        14       time - shortly before you asked for the Lis-Con query to be 
        15       run; that's right? 
        16       A.   Can you ask the question again, please? 
        17 
        18       Q.   Yes.  You had a conversation with Mr Parker, telephone 
        19       conversation, shortly before you asked for the Lis-Con 
        20       query to be run; is that right? 
        21       A.   Is that in my evidence? 
        22 
        23       Q.   No, it's not.  I'm just asking you.  Did you? 
        24       A.   Yes.  It would indicate from my phone records that 
        25       I had a telephone conversation prior to running the 
        26       inquiry, yes. 
        27 
        28       Q.   So you've had a look through your phone records, have 
        29       you? 
        30       A.   Yes, I have. 
        31 
        32       Q.   And you've been careful, have you, to think through 
        33       how you're going to answer questions today to make sure 
        34       that it accords with the records that you've been looking 
        35       at; is that right? 
        36       A.   That's right. 
        37 
        38       Q.   I'll show you your phone records for 18 July.  If we 
        39       go to the second page of that document I'm showing you and 
        40       you run your eye down the left-hand column, the last entry 
        41       for 18 July is a call at 14:06:20 of about 7 minutes to 
        42       a number ending in 395, and do you recognise that as 
        43       Mr Parker's number? 
        44       A.   I don't recognise his telephone number, but if that's 
        45       his telephone number, then, yes, it is. 
        46 
        47       Q.   Didn't you volunteer before that you'd checked through 
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         1       your phone records and you knew that you'd rung Mr Parker 
         2       before -- 
         3       A.   Yes, I don't recognise his mobile number, is what I'm 
         4       saying. 
         5 
         6       Q.   You did when you checked through the records, though, 
         7       did you? 
         8       A.   Well, I think we were - given that the Royal 
         9       Commission had requested the phone records for the period 
        10       that you did, it made sense to go over those records. 
        11 
        12       Q.   So you accept that you had a 7-minute call with 
        13       Mr Parker at 6 minutes past 2 on the 18th? 
        14       A.   Correct. 
        15 
        16       Q.   So that would have ended at around about 13 minutes 
        17       past 2, and if we go back to MFI-1, a short time later - 
        18       that's your email to Mr Walls - you sent your request for 
        19       two employer accounts? 
        20       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
        21 
        22       Q.   So Mr Parker asked you to send that, did he? 
        23       A.   I don't have a clear recollection of a 7-minute 
        24       telephone call with Mr Parker.  I can assume that we were 
        25       talking about him - the information that he was requesting 
        26       and -- 
        27 
        28       Q.   He told you he wanted information Cbus held about the 
        29       names and contact details of Lis-Con employees; that's 
        30       right? 
        31       A.   He was asking about the arrears of Lis-Con employees. 
        32 
        33       Q.   You don't ask about arrears with any specificity in 
        34       your email to Mr Walls, do you?  Have a look at it.  You 
        35       asked for: 
        36 
        37            ... an inquiry for the above two employer 
        38            accounts for the past twelve months. 
        39 
        40       A.   Mmm-hmm, correct. 
        41 
        42       Q.   That's right, isn't it?  If you go back, for example, 
        43       to tab 9 of Zanatta MFI-1, Mr McWhinney there specifies 
        44       what he wants: 
        45 
        46            I will only need a list of the last 
        47            completed payment headers for the two 
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         1            accounts ... 
         2 
         3       And gives the two account numbers.  So he specifies the 
         4       parameters of what he wants, doesn't he?  In contrast, in 
         5       the email at tab 11, you just say you want: 
         6 
         7            ... an inquiry for the above two employer 
         8            accounts for the past twelve months. 
         9 
        10       A.   I'm not understanding your question, sorry. 
        11 
        12       Q.   You knew, didn't you, that if you asked for an inquiry 
        13       without putting any parameters or limits around it, you 
        14       would get back information that included the names of 
        15       Lis-Con employees and their contact details? 
        16       A.   Mr Stoljar, when I was giving evidence on 7 July, 
        17       there was an email that Mr Walls provided to Trish Harper 
        18       that did provide the parameters of my inquiry. 
        19 
        20       Q.   That's what you told Mr Parker you'd try to get, isn't 
        21       it - the contact details? 
        22       A.   No, you're not correct. 
        23 
        24       Q.   Why didn't you mention this 7-minute call with 
        25       Mr Parker when you were giving evidence on the last 
        26       occasion? 
        27       A.   I simply didn't recall it. 
        28 
        29       Q.   Didn't recall it?  It was a pretty significant fact 
        30       for the Commission to be aware of, wasn't it? 
        31       A.   I suppose so. 
        32 
        33       Q.   You wanted to conceal it, didn't you? 
        34       A.   No, I didn't. 
        35 
        36       Q.   Do you still have the transcript there?  You said on 
        37       the last occasion - I think I took you to this - that you 
        38       had a conversation with Mr Walls.  That was at line 13 on 
        39       page 37.  You told me this afternoon that that was 
        40       a telephone conversation you had with him? 
        41       A.   I suspect so, yes. 
        42 
        43       Q.   That was evidence you just made up, wasn't it? 
        44       A.   I don't understand your question, I'm sorry. 
        45 
        46       Q.   You know from looking at your records that there's no 
        47       record of a telephone conversation between you and Mr Walls 
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         1       at that time? 
         2       A.   Does this list include my landline telephone calls? 
         3 
         4       Q.   You say you called him on a landline, do you? 
         5       A.   Well, I don't know.  I have no idea. 
         6 
         7       Q.   Can you come, please, to tab 18 of Zanatta MFI-1.  At 
         8       the bottom of that page, Mr Walls has got back to you on 
         9       22 July and he says: 
        10 
        11            Hi Lisa, 
        12 
        13            Please see attached queries for both 
        14            LIS-CON accounts as requested. 
        15 
        16       At the top of the page, you say to Ms Butera: 
        17 
        18            We now have the data requested by 
        19            Brian Parker. 
        20 
        21       He had requested that in the 7-minute call, hadn't he? 
        22       A.   I'm sorry, you've confused me. 
        23 
        24       Q.   Tab 18 of Zanatta MFI-1.  It has page 119 in the 
        25       bottom right-hand corner.  Mr Walls gets back to you on 
        26       Monday, 22 July and says: 
        27 
        28            Please see attached queries for both 
        29            LIS-CON accounts ... 
        30 
        31       You forward that on to Ms Butera, at the top of the page, 
        32       on the Wednesday, and you say: 
        33 
        34            We now have the data requested by 
        35            Brian Parker. 
        36            I have spoken to Anthony for passing it on 
        37            to others without consent. 
        38            How would you like to proceed with the 
        39            information? 
        40            I'll catch up with you to discuss tomorrow 
        41            if you are available. 
        42 
        43       A.   Mr Stoljar, I'd like you to take me back to the 
        44       question that you asked me about the conversation I had 
        45       with Anthony Walls.  I'm not clear on what your answer was. 
        46 
        47       Q.   What my answer was? 
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         1       A.   What your question was, beg your pardon. 
         2 
         3       Q.   You want to add something to what you said before? 
         4       A.   You're asking me about a telephone conversation with 
         5       Anthony Walls. 
         6 
         7       Q.   Yes.  What would you like to add, Ms Zanatta?  Feel 
         8       free to do so. 
         9       A.   Well, I'm not sure the points that you're wanting to 
        10       raise.  I had -- 
        11 
        12       Q.   Can I suggest this to you:  you have senior counsel 
        13       for Cbus here, and if he feels - if you can't think of what 
        14       it is that you want to add to your answer or you think 
        15       something has gone wrong, he can ask you some more about 
        16       that after I have finished my examination.  All right? 
        17       A.   Yes. 
        18 
        19       Q.   Unless you can think of anything you want to add now? 
        20       A.   No. 
        21 
        22       Q.   So can you now please come to tab 18.  It's page 119 
        23       in the bottom right-hand corner.  In fact, it's on the 
        24       screen, if that's easier.  It says: 
        25 
        26            Please see attached queries ... 
        27 
        28       Then at the top of the page: 
        29 
        30            We now have the data requested by 
        31            Brian Parker. 
        32            I have spoken to Anthony [Walls] for 
        33            passing it on to others without consent. 
        34            How would you like to proceed ... 
        35 
        36       You say that to Ms Butera, and you got together and had 
        37       a chat with her about that, did you? 
        38       A.   I did. 
        39 
        40       Q.   That meeting was on the 25th; that's right? 
        41       A.   Correct. 
        42 
        43       Q.   Then on the 26th, you rang Mr Parker again? 
        44       A.   Correct. 
        45 
        46       Q.   I'll show you some phone records. 
        47 
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   The last lot of phone records should be 
         2       tendered. 
         3 
         4       MR STOLJAR:   Yes, I tender that, Commissioner. 
         5 
         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   They will be Zanatta MFI-2, 3 October 
         7       2014. 
         8 
         9       ZANATTA MFI#2, (3 OCTOBER 2014), PHONE RECORDS FOR 
        10       MS ZANATTA'S PHONE ISSUED 18/07/2013 
        11 
        12       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   I'm now asking you to look, Ms Zanatta, 
        13       at another bundle of phone records.  If you could come, 
        14       please, to the third page in, you should be looking at 
        15       a page which has a heading "National Direct" at the top, 
        16       and then in the "Date" column there are some entries for 
        17       26 July.  Five lines down, on 26 July, 2.30pm, you rang 
        18       a mobile phone number that ends in 395; that's right? 
        19       A.   Yes, I did. 
        20 
        21       Q.   And that's Mr Parker's? 
        22       A.   Okay. 
        23 
        24       Q.   And you spoke for 4 minutes and 30 seconds? 
        25       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
        26 
        27       Q.   You told him, didn't you, that you had now received 
        28       a large bundle of documents in response to his request; is 
        29       that right? 
        30       A.   I simply rang him to tell him that I was reporting the 
        31       four months of arrears for Lis-Con. 
        32 
        33       Q.   That's only going to take a few seconds, isn't it, 
        34       telling him that? 
        35       A.   I've obviously had a conversation. 
        36 
        37       Q.   You could have told him that on the 22nd, couldn't 
        38       you?  You didn't need to discuss it with Ms Butera, did 
        39       you, the fact that it was four months in arrears?  What you 
        40       needed to do was make arrangements to get the bundle of 
        41       documents, from Cbus to Mr Parker in Sydney, with the 
        42       contact details of the Lis-Con employees; that's right, 
        43       isn't it? 
        44       A.   Mr Stoljar, can you point out, please, where I've rung 
        45       Mr Parker on 22 July? 
        46 
        47       Q.   I said the 26th.  I'm taking you to an entry for 
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         1       26 July. 
         2       A.   Yes. 
         3 
         4       MR AGIUS:   But you did ask a question - you said, "You 
         5       could have told him that on the 22nd". 
         6 
         7       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   Yes, I said you could have told him on 
         8       the 22nd.  I didn't say you did.  I said, if all you had to 
         9       do was ring and tell him what the arrears was, you could 
        10       have rung him on the 22nd, but you had your discussions 
        11       with Ms Butera and then you rang -- 
        12       A.   On the 25th.  I had discussions with Maria Butera on 
        13       the 25th. 
        14 
        15       Q.   And then you rang on the 26th? 
        16       A.   Correct. 
        17 
        18       Q.   Immediately after that call, at 2.37 you're driving 
        19       from Geelong back to Point Cook, are you; is that right? 
        20       A.   Yes, I suspect so. 
        21 
        22       Q.   You rang Mr Parker at 2.30.  At 2.37 you rang a number 
        23       ending 288.  Do you see that? 
        24       A.   Correct. 
        25 
        26       Q.   You know who that is, don't you? 
        27       A.   Yes. 
        28 
        29       Q.   It's Ms Heintz? 
        30       A.   Correct. 
        31 
        32       Q.   You asked her to arrange a trip for you to Sydney, 
        33       didn't you? 
        34       A.   I speak to Ms Heintz on a very regular basis, whether 
        35       I'm in the office or on the road.  It could have been -- 
        36 
        37       Q.   You asked her to arrange a trip for you to Sydney, 
        38       didn't you? 
        39       A.   I absolutely did not. 
        40 
        41       Q.   That's your evidence on oath, is it? 
        42       A.   Yes, it is. 
        43 
        44       Q.   So you rang Mr Parker and told him you had the 
        45       documents and that the arrangement was that you would bring 
        46       them up to Sydney; that's right, isn't it? 
        47       A.   That's absolutely incorrect. 
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         1 
         2       Q.   So then you rang Ms Heintz and asked her to arrange 
         3       the trip to Sydney; correct? 
         4       A.   No, that's not correct. 
         5 
         6       MR STOLJAR:   I tender the phone records for Ms Zanatta's 
         7       phone issued 27 July 2013. 
         8 
         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will be Zanatta MFI-3, 3 October 
        10       2014. 
        11 
        12       ZANATTA MFI#3, (3 OCTOBER 2014), PHONE RECORDS FOR 
        13       MS ZANATTA'S PHONE ISSUED 27/07/2013 
        14 
        15       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   Ms Zanatta, I'm now going to show you 
        16       some documents marked FCm Travel Solutions.  This is the 
        17       itinerary that Ms Heintz prepared for you? 
        18       A.   Correct. 
        19 
        20       Q.   Have a look at the bottom of the page.  Do you see it 
        21       says "Generated:  Friday July 26 14:55"; do you see that? 
        22       A.   Yes, I do. 
        23 
        24       Q.   In other words, a few minutes after your conversation 
        25       with Ms Heintz, correct, your telephone call as you're 
        26       driving back from Geelong to Point Cook? 
        27       A.   14:55? 
        28 
        29       Q.   Mmm. 
        30       A.   What time is that?  3 o'clock. 
        31 
        32       Q.   Your telephone call with Ms Heintz was at 2.37.  A few 
        33       minutes after you'd hung up from talking to Mr Parker, you 
        34       then rang Ms Heintz and she caused your tickets to be 
        35       booked to Sydney for the Monday; that's right, isn't it? 
        36       A.   The flight for the Sydney trip was booked - was 
        37       requested of Ms Heintz, I don't recall when, but days 
        38       before. 
        39 
        40       Q.   Well, the document says "Generated: Friday July 26 
        41       14:55", doesn't it? 
        42       A.   Correct, and we go through a travel -- 
        43 
        44       Q.   Look at the top of the page, Ms Zanatta: 
        45 
        46            Date:          26-Jul-2013. 
        47            Ordered by:    Ms Jackie Heintz. 
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         1 
         2       Have a look at the description of what it was booked for, 
         3       further down the page: 
         4 
         5            Budget description:  Meeting with union. 
         6 
         7       A.   Correct.  I'm not responsible for the code entry that 
         8       she places or, in fact, the travel agent may place. 
         9 
        10       Q.   Is that seriously your evidence? 
        11       A.   Yes, it is. 
        12 
        13       Q.   Because you say you were going into the Cbus office; 
        14       is that right? 
        15       A.   With - meeting with unions. 
        16 
        17       Q.   I'm sorry? 
        18       A.   And meeting with unions. 
        19 
        20       Q.   You say you were going to the Cbus office in town? 
        21       A.   Correct. 
        22 
        23       Q.   Ms Zanatta, you know there are serious penalties for 
        24       perjury; you understand that? 
        25       A.   Absolutely. 
        26 
        27       MR STOLJAR:   I tender the FCm Travel Solutions document. 
        28 
        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Zanatta MFI-4, 3 October 2014. 
        30 
        31       ZANATTA MFI#4, (3 OCTOBER 2014), FCm TRAVEL SOLUTIONS 
        32       DOCUMENT 
        33 
        34       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   I think we've established that you were 
        35       out of the office on the afternoon of 26 July 2014.  You 
        36       were driving from Geelong to Point Cook.  You live in 
        37       Point Cook, don't you? 
        38       A.   Correct. 
        39 
        40       Q.   I take it that the Cbus office in Melbourne is in town 
        41       somewhere? 
        42       A.   Yes, it is. 
        43 
        44       Q.   You caused a package to be couriered from Cbus to your 
        45       home in Point Cook that afternoon, didn't you? 
        46       A.   For that day? 
        47 
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         1       Q.   Yes, for that day, Ms Zanatta. 
         2       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
         3 
         4       Q.   You did, didn't you? 
         5       A.   Yes, I did. 
         6 
         7       Q.   That was the bundle of documents that you were going 
         8       to take to Sydney on the Monday, wasn't it? 
         9       A.   No, it was not. 
        10 
        11       Q.   It was the Cbus documents with the personal contact 
        12       details? 
        13       A.   No, it was not. 
        14 
        15       Q.   All right, have a look at this document.  You're 
        16       looking at a Centexpress courier document.  It was booked 
        17       at 15:57; pickup was at 16:40; and it was delivered at 
        18       17:20, and that's your address in Point Cook, I take it? 
        19       A.   Yes, it is. 
        20 
        21       Q.   So it was picked up from United Super and delivered to 
        22       Point Cook that afternoon? 
        23       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
        24 
        25       Q.   That's what you'd arranged with Mr Parker; correct? 
        26       A.   No, it was not. 
        27 
        28       MR STOLJAR:   I tender the Centexpress document, 
        29       your Honour. 
        30 
        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will be Zanatta MFI-5, 3 October 
        32       2014. 
        33 
        34       ZANATTA MFI#5, (3 OCTOBER 2014), CENTEXPRESS COURIER 
        35       DOCUMENT 
        36 
        37       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   So by the 26th, you had received the 
        38       Lis-Con spreadsheets with the personal contact details and 
        39       you'd spoken to Ms Butera about what to do.  On the 
        40       afternoon of Friday, the 26th, you rang Mr Parker, and then 
        41       the flight to Sydney was booked that afternoon, when you 
        42       were out of the office, and arrangements were made for 
        43       something to be couriered to your home that very afternoon. 
        44       That's right, isn't it?  Then on the Monday, you brought 
        45       the Cbus documents that you had had couriered from the 
        46       office to your home, and you delivered them to Sydney, in 
        47       Sydney, didn't you? 
 
            .03/10/2014 (6)             745     L J ZANATTA (Mr Stoljar) 
                             Transcript produced by Merrill Corporation 
                                   UNCORRECTED PROOF 



 

 
 
 
 
 
         1       A.   That courier satchel did not contain Lis-Con data. 
         2 
         3       Q.   And the reason for that is that you didn't want to 
         4       risk either emailing them or just sending them in the post; 
         5       you thought you'd courier them yourself; that's right, 
         6       isn't it? 
         7       A.   Absolutely not. 
         8 
         9       Q.   All right.  You said you arrived at the airport - I am 
        10       sorry, you got I think it was a 9.30 flight? 
        11       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
        12 
        13       Q.   You arrived at Sydney Airport at about 11 o'clock and 
        14       you got a cab? 
        15       A.   Yes. 
        16 
        17       Q.   You got a Taxis Combined cab, didn't you? 
        18       A.   I'm not sure. 
        19 
        20       Q.   You paid for it on your NAB Visa Card? 
        21       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
        22 
        23       Q.   That's right, isn't it?  You know you've been caught 
        24       out, don't you, Ms Zanatta? 
        25       A.   It's not correct. 
        26 
        27       Q.   I will show you a NAB Visa purchasing document.  If 
        28       you have a look at the transaction entry for 29 July 2013, 
        29       there was a charge of $126.65. 
        30       A.   Correct. 
        31 
        32       Q.   That's what you paid for your cab fare? 
        33       A.   Yes, it is. 
        34 
        35       Q.   That was the cab you told us about earlier on? 
        36       A.   Yes. 
        37 
        38       MR STOLJAR:   I tender the NAB Visa purchasing document. 
        39 
        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   That will be Zanatta MFI-6, 3 October 
        41       2014. 
        42 
        43       ZANATTA MFI#6, (3 OCTOBER 2014), NAB VISA PURCHASING 
        44       DOCUMENT 
        45 
        46       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, it's probably not my place but 
        47       I see that the previous document, the Centexpress document, 
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         1       has what appears to be a domestic address at Point Cook on 
         2       it. 
         3 
         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Let's just have a look at our order. 
         5       Yes, I correct, unless anyone objects, that the address on 
         6       Zanatta MFI-5 (3 October 2014) be kept confidential. 
         7       Thank you, Mr Agius.  It's hard to keep track of these 
         8       things. 
         9 
        10       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   I'm going to show you now a bundle of 
        11       documents, Ms Zanatta.  The first document with the 
        12       yellow - I'm sorry, what are you looking at now, 
        13       Ms Zanatta? 
        14       A.   This document (indicating). 
        15 
        16       Q.   So the first document, with the yellow, is a Taxi 
        17       Activity Report for Taxi 8064, and this document has been 
        18       produced to the Commission by a taxi company.  The yellow 
        19       highlight - I'll just take you through it, and then there's 
        20       a slightly easier version to read.  Action time, the taxi 
        21       is identified, and then - oh, you're flipping ahead to try 
        22       and see where this is going, are you, Ms Zanatta? 
        23       A.   Yes. 
        24 
        25       Q.   Yes, you are.  Why don't you just take it step by step 
        26       and just look, rather than try to guess.  Then there's 
        27       latitude and longitude, which tells us where the cab was. 
        28       Meter on, meter off, et cetera.  Now, come to the next 
        29       page.  You may have, as you skimmed ahead, already seen it, 
        30       but this is a document which has been prepared by the 
        31       Commission which sets out the yellow a bit more clearly and 
        32       also has added in one column marked "Google map location". 
        33       So you got into the cab at 11.04, and the latitude and 
        34       longitude are there and there's a Google map location and 
        35       the meter goes on.  The cab drives for about 33 minutes, 
        36       stops.  The first red entry "meter on" and then "ignition 
        37       off", and you will see the speed drops down to zero, do you 
        38       see that, so it stops.  And then "meter on", "ignition on", 
        39       cab starts driving again. 
        40 
        41            Now, let's have a look at the Google Map locations 
        42       drawn from the latitude and longitude on the next page. 
        43       You're picked up at Sydney Airport, and you're driven to 
        44       the CFMEU office in Lidcombe, aren't you, Ms Zanatta? 
        45       A.   That's what it would indicate. 
        46 
        47       Q.   And the evidence that you gave earlier about coming in 
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         1       to York Street and being in town was an absolute lie; 
         2       that's right, isn't it?  That's right, isn't it, 
         3       Ms Zanatta? 
         4       A.   Well, to my recollection, that meeting with 
         5       Cbus Property and the joint meetings was to be held on 
         6       29 July. 
         7 
         8       Q.   The evidence that you gave to this Commission on your 
         9       oath a few minutes ago about coming into George Street and 
        10       ringing from a phone booth at York Street was an absolute 
        11       lie, wasn't it? 
        12       A.   I rang -- 
        13 
        14       MR CRUTCHFIELD:   Commissioner, it might be appropriate 
        15       that the witness be given a certificate or Mr Stoljar ought 
        16       to warn the witness. 
        17 
        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Whatever the witness says in this 
        19       hearing cannot be used against her in other proceedings. 
        20       The certificate system under the Evidence Act doesn't apply 
        21       here.  There is a separate more automatic regime that 
        22       applies under the Royal Commissions Act. 
        23 
        24       MR CRUTCHFIELD:   If the Commission pleases. 
        25 
        26       MR STOLJAR:   I should say that that rule doesn't apply in 
        27       the case of perjury, Commissioner. 
        28 
        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes. 
        30 
        31       MR STOLJAR:   I think we are not still under the 
        32       Evidence Act regime, so a 128 certificate would not appear 
        33       to be relevant. 
        34 
        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, if the witness makes an admission 
        36       of perjury, yes.  Just a moment.  I don't think 
        37       a certificate issue arises, but what warning would you like 
        38       me to give, Mr Crutchfield, to the witness, if any? 
        39 
        40       MR CRUTCHFIELD:   Would your Honour adjourn for 
        41       five minutes so I can consider the position?  This is a 
        42       rather serious matter. 
        43 
        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is that satisfactory, Mr Stoljar? 
        45 
        46       MR STOLJAR:   Yes.  Is it proposed that Mr Crutchfield will 
        47       have a conference with the witness? 
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         1 
         2       MR CRUTCHFIELD:   I might need to, yes.  There is a problem 
         3       we need to think about. 
         4 
         5       MR STOLJAR:   Mr Crutchfield is going to take it in steps. 
         6       I have no objection to that course. 
         7 
         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Take what in steps? 
         9 
        10       MR STOLJAR:   He is going to consider his position before 
        11       he tells me whether or not he wishes to have a conference 
        12       with the witness. 
        13 
        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   So adjourn for five minutes? 
        15 
        16       MR STOLJAR:   Yes, Commissioner. 
        17 
        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  I will adjourn for 
        19       five minutes. 
        20 
        21       SHORT ADJOURNMENT 
        22 
        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   So now what?  I think the question was 
        24       whether some warning should be given to the witness. 
        25 
        26       MR CRUTCHFIELD:   A warning does not need to be given. 
        27 
        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   You don't want me to say anything? 
        29       I will say something, though. 
        30 
        31       MR CRUTCHFIELD:   If the Commissioner pleases. 
        32 
        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Ms Zanatta, when people are asked 
        34       questions in a court or in other proceedings, normally 
        35       they're entitled to refuse to answer the question if it 
        36       might incriminate them.  That's called the privilege 
        37       against self-incrimination, but it has been abolished for 
        38       royal commissions.  There is a section of the 
        39       Royal Commissions Act which says that anything a witness 
        40       says in a Royal Commission hearing is inadmissible against 
        41       them in evidence in a later civil or criminal case, but 
        42       that does not apply in relation to evidence in proceedings 
        43       for an offence against the Act.  Section 6H(1) states: 
        44 
        45            A person shall not at a hearing before 
        46            a Commission intentionally give evidence 
        47            that the person knows to be false or 
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         1            misleading with respect to any matter, 
         2            being a matter that is material to the 
         3            inquiry being made by the Commission. 
         4 
         5       And all these questions by Mr Stoljar about your movements 
         6       in Sydney on that particular day is a matter material to 
         7       the inquiry. 
         8 
         9            Subsection (2) of that section states: 
        10 
        11            An offence against subsection (1) is an 
        12            indictable offence and subject to this 
        13            section is punishable on conviction by 
        14            imprisonment for a period not exceeding 
        15            five years or a fine not exceeding $20,000. 
        16 
        17       Then there are provisions for lower penalties if the matter 
        18       is tried in a court of summary jurisdiction. 
        19 
        20            I think you should be very conscious of the risks you 
        21       are running.  You need to think hard about the answers to 
        22       the questions Mr Stoljar is about to ask. 
        23 
        24       THE WITNESS:   Thank you. 
        25 
        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Stoljar, I think you asked 
        27       a question that wasn't actually answered. 
        28 
        29       MR STOLJAR:   Yes, that's what I was about to ask again. 
        30 
        31       Q.   I said to you that the evidence you gave to this 
        32       Commission on your oath a few minutes ago about coming into 
        33       George Street and ringing from a phone booth at York Street 
        34       was an absolute lie, wasn't it? 
        35       A.   Correct. 
        36 
        37       Q.   So you gave that evidence knowing it was false? 
        38       A.   I did. 
        39 
        40       Q.   And you did that to conceal the role that Mr Parker 
        41       had played in causing you to obtain Lis-Con documents; 
        42       that's right, isn't it? 
        43       A.   I did that to protect a number of people. 
        44 
        45       Q.   One of whom was Mr Parker? 
        46       A.   Yes. 
        47 
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         1       Q.   And who were the other people you were protecting? 
         2       A.   Well, Cbus and the CEO. 
         3 
         4       Q.   Mr Atkin? 
         5       A.   Correct. 
         6 
         7       Q.   So the position is, let us try to work through it 
         8       again, shall we, Ms Zanatta, you spoke to Mr Parker, 
         9       didn't you, for 7 minutes on 18 July 2013? 
        10       A.   I did. 
        11 
        12       Q.   And he gave you instructions about getting hold of 
        13       material relating to Lis-Con employees? 
        14       A.   No, I said I had no great recollection of that 
        15       seven-minute conversation, and that is the truth. 
        16 
        17       Q.   You understood that Mr Parker wanted information 
        18       concerning Lis-Con employees, including their contact 
        19       details; correct? 
        20       A.   Not the contact details, no. 
        21 
        22       Q.   So that he or others at the CFMEU could use the 
        23       contact details to contact Lis-Con employees and make 
        24       trouble with their employer; correct? 
        25       A.   No, that wasn't my understanding. 
        26 
        27       Q.   You then made arrangements with Mr Walls to obtain 
        28       that information? 
        29       A.   Different information.  I didn't request telephone 
        30       numbers and email addresses. 
        31 
        32       Q.   Then you rang Mr Parker, didn't you, on the afternoon 
        33       of Friday, 26 July at 2.30pm? 
        34       A.   26 July? 
        35 
        36       Q.   Yes. 
        37       A.   Yes, I did. 
        38 
        39       Q.   And you told him that you got hold of the documents? 
        40       A.   I don't recall exactly what I said to him other than 
        41       reporting that Lis-Con was in arrears for four months. 
        42 
        43       Q.   You told him that you'd got hold of the documents, 
        44       didn't you? 
        45       A.   That I have the data that indicates that Lis-Con was 
        46       in arrears for four months. 
        47 
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         1       Q.   You've agreed that you gave false evidence, to your 
         2       knowledge, you gave knowingly false evidence to this 
         3       Commission earlier on this afternoon; you've agreed with 
         4       that, haven't you? 
         5       A.   Yes. 
         6 
         7       Q.   And you did that to protect Mr Parker, among others? 
         8       A.   Yes, but the telephone conversation on 26 July was 
         9       reporting the four months of arrears. 
        10 
        11       Q.   But you knew that what Mr Parker was after was much 
        12       more detailed information about Lis-Con; correct? 
        13       A.   Not much more detailed information, no. 
        14 
        15       Q.   So that he could use that information to contact, or 
        16       he or others could use it to contact Lis-Con employees so 
        17       that they, in turn, would make complaints to their 
        18       employer; that's right, isn't it? 
        19       A.   No, I didn't request all of the data that I received. 
        20 
        21       Q.   That's not answering my question. 
        22       A.   He didn't indicate to me that he needed telephone 
        23       numbers and email addresses. 
        24 
        25       Q.   I'm sorry? 
        26       A.   He didn't indicate to me that he needed telephone 
        27       numbers and email addresses. 
        28 
        29       Q.   Did he indicate that to someone else, did he? 
        30       A.   I don't know. 
        31 
        32       Q.   He indicated it to Ms Butera?  Oh, are you saying that 
        33       Mr Atkin told you that you had to get contact details? 
        34       A.   No, no, that's not correct. 
        35 
        36       Q.   Who told you to get the contact details of members of 
        37       Cbus, including their telephone and other contact details? 
        38       A.   No-one did.  It was the data that I received from 
        39       Anthony Walls. 
        40 
        41       Q.   Why were you going through this charade of couriering 
        42       them up to Sydney yourself?  If it was just arrears, you 
        43       could have just sent it through on the email, couldn't you? 
        44       A.   I don't have an answer. 
        45 
        46       Q.   Well, how about the truth, Ms Zanatta?  Why don't you 
        47       try that? 
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         1       A.   Well, the data was - it was sent to - it was given to 
         2       Mr Parker, but that's not the data that he had requested. 
         3 
         4       Q.   Oh, I see.  So you're now saying, are you, what, you 
         5       took it up to Sydney and you gave it to Mr Parker, did you? 
         6       A.   Not to Mr Parker, no. 
         7 
         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You said it was given to Mr Parker 
         9       but it was not the data he requested. 
        10       A.   I didn't mean - I did not give it to Mr Parker. 
        11 
        12       Q.   To whom did you give it? 
        13       A.   To somebody in the office. 
        14 
        15       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   Mr Parker wasn't there; is that the 
        16       problem? 
        17       A.   He was not there. 
        18 
        19       Q.   So you gave it to someone saying, "Give this to 
        20       Mr Parker"? 
        21       A.   Correct. 
        22 
        23       Q.   So that's what you meant when you said, "It was given 
        24       to Mr Parker"?  You took it up to the office of CFMEU at 
        25       Lidcombe and you handed it, what, in an envelope, was it? 
        26       A.   Yes. 
        27 
        28       Q.   And you said to someone, what, at the front desk? 
        29       A.   Yes. 
        30 
        31       Q.   Was it an organiser or what?  Who did you speak to? 
        32       A.   I don't recall. 
        33 
        34       Q.   Of course you recall.  Who was it? 
        35       A.   Somebody, somebody in the office. 
        36 
        37       Q.   Somebody in the office.  What, somebody sitting behind 
        38       the reception desk or someone actually in an office? 
        39       A.   Reception desk. 
        40 
        41       Q.   Lady or man? 
        42       A.   Not sure.  No, I don't recall. 
        43 
        44       Q.   Was it Ms Kylie Wray, was it? 
        45       A.   No.  I don't - I don't - I don't recall. 
        46 
        47       Q.   You know who it was, don't you?  That's why you're 
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         1       hesitating in the way that you are? 
         2       A.   No, really, I don't - I honestly don't recall. 
         3 
         4       MR STOLJAR:   Can I show you Fitzpatrick MFI-3. 
         5 
         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   While that's happening, should we mark 
         7       as Zanatta MFI-7, 3 October 2014, the taxi records and the 
         8       map? 
         9 
        10       MR STOLJAR:   Yes. 
        11 
        12       ZANATTA MFI#7, (3 OCTOBER 2014), TAXI RECORDS AND MAP 
        13 
        14       MR STOLJAR:   Q.  Ms Zanatta, you're looking at two bundles 
        15       of documents printed off the Cbus website - I am sorry, it 
        16       might have been the administrator's database.  These are 
        17       the two documents without the handwriting on them, in the 
        18       top.  Do you recognise any of your handwriting on those 
        19       documents? 
        20       A.   No, I don't. 
        21 
        22       Q.   In any event, these are the two bundles that you 
        23       dropped off at the offices of the CFMEU in Lidcombe on 
        24       Monday, 29 July? 
        25       A.   I suspect so, yes. 
        26 
        27       Q.   Were they in an envelope or something; is that right? 
        28       A.   That's right. 
        29 
        30       Q.   And you brought them up to Sydney yourself for the 
        31       express purpose of taking them to the Lidcombe office of 
        32       the CFMEU; correct? 
        33       A.   Correct. 
        34 
        35       Q.   You left the taxi out the front and you dashed in and 
        36       you said, "Is Mr Parker there?"  Is that right? 
        37       A.   Correct. 
        38 
        39       Q.   And what, somebody said to you, "No, he's not", so you 
        40       said, "Give him these"; that's right, is it? 
        41       A.   Correct. 
        42 
        43       Q.   The reason that you had brought them yourself to 
        44       Sydney was because you didn't want to risk sending them in 
        45       the post or on the email; correct? 
        46       A.   Well, I had hoped to have a general discussion with 
        47       Brian Parker over a number of other Cbus matters. 
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         1 
         2       Q.   The reason you couriered them yourself to Sydney was 
         3       because you didn't want to send them on the email or in the 
         4       post; that's right, isn't it? 
         5       A.   Well, I could have easily done that. 
         6 
         7       Q.   You didn't do it because you didn't want -- 
         8       A.   I wanted to have a conversation with Brian Parker over 
         9       a number of other Cbus matters. 
        10 
        11       Q.   Why didn't you just ring him up?  It's just nonsense, 
        12       your evidence, isn't it, Ms Zanatta? 
        13       A.   No, it's not.  I wanted to take the opportunity to 
        14       have a meeting with him. 
        15 
        16       Q.   You're continuing to give dishonest evidence to this 
        17       Commission, aren't you? 
        18       A.   No, I'm not. 
        19 
        20       Q.   You brought those documents yourself to Sydney for 
        21       safekeeping because you didn't want to email them or send 
        22       them in the post; that's right, isn't it? 
        23       A.   As well as have other conversation with Brian Parker. 
        24 
        25       Q.   So the answer to my question is yes, you didn't want 
        26       to email them or put them in the post, did you? 
        27       A.   Well, it made - it made good - it made sense to 
        28       utilise the time with Brian Parker and have a meeting with 
        29       him over other Cbus matters. 
        30 
        31       Q.   The answer to my question then is, yes, you didn't 
        32       want to send them through the email or the post; that's 
        33       right, isn't it? 
        34       A.   The question is I wanted to have a meeting with 
        35       Brian Parker anyway. 
        36 
        37       Q.   And he had organised that, had he? 
        38       A.   I beg your pardon? 
        39 
        40       Q.   He had organised that, had he, that meeting? 
        41       A.   Well -- 
        42 
        43       Q.   Is that right? 
        44       A.   Yes, in our conversation on 29 July. 
        45 
        46       Q.   On 26 July, you mean. 
        47       A.   Sorry, I beg your pardon. 
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         1 
         2       Q.   He organised for you to come to Sydney on the Monday, 
         3       in that conversation; is that right?  Yes? 
         4       A.   Correct. 
         5 
         6       Q.   And you said to him, "I'll bring the documents 
         7       myself"? 
         8       A.   "And we'll catch up then." 
         9 
        10       Q.   And the reason you did that is you didn't want anyone 
        11       to find out about what was in these documents, did you, the 
        12       fact that there were contact details and the like? 
        13       A.   Correct. 
        14 
        15       Q.   Because you knew very well that that was going to be 
        16       used to contact Lis-Con employees to make trouble with 
        17       their employer, Lis-Con; that's right, isn't it? 
        18       A.   No, I had no - no understanding that they were going 
        19       to use the data for any other purposes than their arrears. 
        20 
        21       Q.   Well, the reason they needed the contact details was 
        22       so they could ring these people up; that's right, isn't it? 
        23       That's right, isn't it? 
        24       A.   But Brian Parker didn't ask me for phone numbers and 
        25       email addresses.  That's what the data - how it ended up 
        26       being. 
        27 
        28       Q.   When you said you wanted to protect Mr Atkin, he was 
        29       also aware that this was going on, was he? 
        30       A.   No, he was not. 
        31 
        32       Q.   Well, why did you say that you lied to this Commission 
        33       in your evidence today to protect him? 
        34       A.   Well, I - I didn't know what conversation he had had 
        35       with Mr Parker.  I was told by Ms Butera that it was about 
        36       the arrears. 
        37 
        38       Q.   Were you trying to protect Ms Butera as well when you 
        39       gave false evidence? 
        40       A.   No. 
        41 
        42       Q.   Just Mr Atkin and Mr Parker and others at Cbus? 
        43       A.   Well, Cbus in general, yes. 
        44 
        45       Q.   Just go back and have a look at your transcript on 
        46       7 July.  Have a look at page 21.  I asked you: 
        47 
 
            .03/10/2014 (6)             756     L J ZANATTA (Mr Stoljar) 
                             Transcript produced by Merrill Corporation 
                                   UNCORRECTED PROOF 



 

 
 
 
 
 
         1            Q.   Are you aware of any instances in 
         2            which Cbus information was provided to 
         3            CFMEU or member information concerning 
         4            employees of either Lis-Con Services or 
         5            Lis-Con Concrete Constructions? 
         6            A.   Yes. 
         7 
         8            Q.   Were you personally involved in the 
         9            provision of that information? 
        10            A.   No. 
        11 
        12       That was a lie, wasn't it, Ms Zanatta? 
        13       A.   Correct.  Correct. 
        14 
        15       Q.   You accept that? 
        16       A.   Yes. 
        17 
        18       Q.   And you knew it to be a lie when you gave that 
        19       evidence on 7 July 2014, didn't you? 
        20       A.   Correct. 
        21 
        22       Q.   Did Mr Parker ask you to lie for him? 
        23       A.   No. 
        24 
        25       Q.   Does he know that you're lying for him? 
        26       A.   I'm unsure. 
        27 
        28       Q.   When was the last time you spoke to him? 
        29       A.   Some months ago. 
        30 
        31       Q.   Some months ago?  You didn't speak to him today? 
        32       A.   No. 
        33 
        34       Q.   Have you spoken to him in the last few weeks? 
        35       A.   No. 
        36 
        37       Q.   Did you speak to him about your evidence when you last 
        38       spoke to him? 
        39       A.   No. 
        40 
        41       Q.   Your evidence to this Commission? 
        42       A.   No. 
        43 
        44       Q.   Have you spoken to anyone else at the CFMEU about your 
        45       evidence to this Commission? 
        46       A.   No. 
        47 
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         1       Q.   You used to work at the CFMEU, didn't you? 
         2       A.   In the training unit. 
         3 
         4       Q.   Look at page 21 of the transcript, further down the 
         5       page: 
         6 
         7            Q.   Was there any occasion on which you 
         8            yourself separately from Mr Gaske 
         9            participated in releasing information, 
        10            members' information to anyone at the 
        11            CFMEU? 
        12            A.   Not member information.  I've 
        13            certainly provided the arrears status, but 
        14            certainly not passed on any member 
        15            information, no. 
        16 
        17       That was a lie, wasn't it? 
        18       A.   At the time, Mr Stoljar, I thought you were referring 
        19       to the Lis-Con/Steve Gaske incident. 
        20 
        21       Q.   No, I said "separately from Mr Gaske participated in 
        22       releasing information to anyone at the CFMEU"? 
        23       A.   At that time, I thought you were talking in relation 
        24       to Mr Gaske. 
        25 
        26       Q.   Have a look at page 38 of the transcript of your 
        27       evidence on the last occasion.  I said to you at line 16: 
        28 
        29            Q.   Did you print out the data at this 
        30            point? 
        31            A.   No. 
        32 
        33            Q.   Did you post it off to Mr Parker? 
        34            A.   No. 
        35 
        36            Q.   Do you know how it found its way to 
        37            the CFMEU in New South Wales? 
        38            A.   No. 
        39 
        40            Q.   It must have come from either you or 
        41            Ms Butera, surely? 
        42            A.   It didn't come from me. 
        43 
        44       That evidence was all just lies, wasn't it, Ms Zanatta? 
        45       A.   I didn't print it out. 
        46 
        47       Q.   You knew how it found its way to the CFMEU in 
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         1       New South Wales:  you brought it there, didn't you? 
         2       A.   Yes, I did. 
         3 
         4       Q.   And that evidence that you gave on 7 July 2014 was 
         5       absolutely false, wasn't it? 
         6       A.   I didn't print out the data. 
         7 
         8       Q.   The evidence that you gave on 7 July 2014 was 
         9       absolutely false, wasn't it, Ms Zanatta?  You knew very 
        10       well how it found its way to the CFMEU in New South Wales? 
        11       A.   Correct. 
        12 
        13       Q.   And you knew that it was false when you gave that 
        14       evidence on 7 July, didn't you? 
        15       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
        16 
        17       Q.   You agree with me? 
        18       A.   Yes, but I didn't print it out. 
        19 
        20       Q.   When you say "mmm-hmm", you mean, yes, you knew it was 
        21       false? 
        22       A.   Yes. 
        23 
        24       Q.   Who did print it out? 
        25       A.   Anthony Walls. 
        26 
        27       Q.   And then, what, he gave it to you, did he? 
        28       A.   Yes, that's right.  He - it was far too much data and 
        29       I - we needed to reduce the fields.  What I didn't specify 
        30       for him was to just reduce it without the contact details 
        31       and email addresses. 
        32 
        33       Q.   Have a look at page 43 of your evidence on the last 
        34       occasion.  At line 36, I said: 
        35 
        36            Q.   Were you concerned about releasing 
        37            members' contact information when it meant 
        38            that other people out there would have 
        39            those persons' home addresses and email 
        40            addresses and telephone numbers? 
        41            A.   I have never released Cbus data to 
        42            a third party that contained addresses, 
        43            mobile numbers, email addresses and 
        44            whatever else you think that information 
        45            contained. 
        46 
        47       A.   Correct. 
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         1 
         2       Q.   That was just a lie, wasn't it? 
         3       A.   Well, I've never done it before. 
         4 
         5       Q.   Never done it before? 
         6 
         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You have to concentrate on the 
         8       question and stop trying to evade the point. 
         9       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
        10 
        11       Q.   It was false, to your knowledge, to say that you had 
        12       never released -- 
        13       A.   Correct. 
        14 
        15       Q.   -- Cbus data to a third party? 
        16       A.   Correct. 
        17 
        18       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   Have a look at page 45.  Again, I'm 
        19       asking you about documents that were released on or about 
        20       24 July and you said it relates to the Queensland 
        21       coordinator, Steve Gaske, yes, and then you said, "I did 
        22       not pass that data on", and that was a lie, wasn't it, 
        23       Ms Zanatta? 
        24 
        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which line on the page were you 
        26       directing attention to? 
        27 
        28       MR STOLJAR:   The particular one is page 45, line 7, 
        29       Commissioner. 
        30 
        31       THE WITNESS:   Are you referring to - was that referring to 
        32       24 July? 
        33 
        34       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   Yes.  I said, "In about 24 July". 
        35 
        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   "Or shortly thereafter". 
        37 
        38       MR STOLJAR:   Q.   "Or shortly thereafter".  That was a lie 
        39       as well, wasn't it, Ms Zanatta? 
        40       A.   No, not at that - no. 
        41 
        42       Q.   And then have a look at page 49, line 37.  You say: 
        43 
        44            I am unaware that the query that I received 
        45            from Anthony Walls had been leaked 
        46            anywhere.  I had no idea.  How many times 
        47            do I need to tell you that? 
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         1 
         2       A.   Mmm-hmm. 
         3 
         4       Q.   That was your evidence on oath on 7 July, Ms Zanatta, 
         5       and that was quite false, wasn't it?  Ms Zanatta?  Are you 
         6       able to answer my question? 
         7       A.   Sorry, I'm just - you were referring to an earlier 
         8       leak, were you not?  It was about the Bowen Hills telephone 
         9       conversations; is that right? 
        10 
        11       Q.   I'm asking you now about page 49 of the transcript, 
        12       line 37, where you said: 
        13 
        14            I am unaware that the query that I received 
        15            from Anthony Walls had been leaked 
        16            anywhere.  I had no idea.  How many times 
        17            do I need to tell you that? 
        18 
        19       That was an absolute lie, wasn't it, Ms Zanatta? 
        20       A.   I don't believe it had been at that stage. 
        21 
        22       Q.   You're just evading the question now, aren't you? 
        23       See, you've engaged in a deliberate and prolonged cover-up, 
        24       haven't you, Ms Zanatta; that's right, isn't it? 
        25       A.   I wouldn't call it a cover-up.  It was about 
        26       protecting people and it was an inappropriate release of 
        27       personal details, but again, I say that it wasn't the type 
        28       of data that I would normally operate with and use. 
        29 
        30       Q.   Do you say that you never rang Mr Parker in the whole 
        31       of June or July, until 18 July, when you discussed his 
        32       request? 
        33       A.   June or July? 
        34 
        35       Q.   Did you ring Mr Parker during June or July, prior to 
        36       18 July? 
        37       A.   I don't recall. 
        38 
        39       Q.   This sequence of events started a bit earlier in time, 
        40       didn't it, Ms Zanatta?  Have a look at the folder marked 
        41       Zanatta MFI-1 and have a look at tab 5.  Go to page 22 
        42       behind tab 5, an email from you to Mr Grabski.  That email 
        43       tells you what the arrears position is, doesn't it, 
        44       Ms Zanatta? 
        45       A.   Well, this email indicates an estimated debt only and, 
        46       as it turns out, the true value of the arrears till the end 
        47       of June for Lis-Con was $650,000, and that's not what the 
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         1       estimated debt -- 
         2 
         3       Q.   You then forwarded Mr Grabski's email to Mr Ingham; 
         4       that's in the middle of page 22? 
         5       A.   Yes. 
         6 
         7       Q.   And if you come back to page 21, he forwarded it to 
         8       Mr Ravbar, who forwarded it to Mr Noonan, who forwarded it 
         9       to Mr Atkin and Mr Atkin to Ms Butera.  Were you trying to 
        10       cover up any of those persons in your false evidence today? 
        11       A.   No, not at all.  In relation to this inquiry from 
        12       Jade Ingham, clearly, he wanted to know or receive an 
        13       understanding of where they were at.  I'd had a phone 
        14       call - a meeting with IFCC to establish what the history 
        15       has been with Lis-Con.  They'd clearly pay well and truly 
        16       outside even the ATO requirements more times than not. 
        17       I reviewed their notes on the system to discover just 
        18       dozens and dozens of telephone calls about their arrears. 
        19       I could also identify massive amounts of arrears letters 
        20       with this company. 
        21 
        22       Q.   You came here today to this Commission having 
        23       deliberately calculated a false story around the documents 
        24       that this Commission had asked for; that's right, isn't it? 
        25       A.   I beg your pardon? 
        26 
        27       Q.   You had deliberately concocted your false story before 
        28       you came here; that's right, isn't it?  You'd gone through 
        29       the records and you'd worked out a story; that's right, 
        30       isn't it? 
        31       A.   Correct, but not in relation to this issue. 
        32 
        33       Q.   No, but I'm talking about the delivery of documents on 
        34       29 July.  You have come to this Commission with that plan 
        35       in mind; correct? 
        36       A.   Correct 
        37 
        38       Q.   To tell a false story; that's right, isn't it? 
        39       A.   Well, to protect people, yes. 
        40 
        41       Q.   But you had come to this Commission with the 
        42       intention, the premeditated intention, of giving false 
        43       evidence; that's right, isn't it? 
        44       A.   Yes. 
        45 
        46       Q.   And did you tell Ms Butera that you were going to give 
        47       false evidence? 
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         1       A.   No. 
         2 
         3       Q.   Did you tell Mr Atkin? 
         4       A.   No. 
         5 
         6       Q.   Have you told anyone? 
         7       A.   No. 
         8 
         9       Q.   Did you tell anyone at the CFMEU? 
        10       A.   No. 
        11 
        12       Q.   And are you now still trying to protect people when 
        13       you give those answers; is that right? 
        14       A.   I didn't tell anybody. 
        15 
        16       Q.   When you say that you deny you've spoken to anyone 
        17       about your plan to give false evidence, that is in itself 
        18       a lie; that's right, isn't it? 
        19       A.   Can you ask me the question again, please? 
        20 
        21       Q.   You have spoken to other persons about your plan to 
        22       give false evidence, haven't you? 
        23       A.   No. 
        24 
        25       MR STOLJAR:   I have nothing further, thank you, 
        26       Commissioner. 
        27 
        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Morison, do you have any questions? 
        29 
        30       MR MORISON:   I have no questions. 
        31 
        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Crawshaw? 
        33 
        34       MR CRAWSHAW:   No questions. 
        35 
        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think probably Mr Agius, you're next. 
        37       I am putting Mr Crutchfield last.  Do you want to go last 
        38       or have Mr Crutchfield before you, or do you want to ask 
        39       any questions at all? 
        40 
        41       MR AGIUS:   I do have some questions and I'm content to do 
        42       that now. 
        43 
        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well. 
        45 
        46       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS: 
        47 
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